Image © Evelyn Gomes dos Anjos (evelynangelfotografia@gmail.com).

# **Midwifery Unit Standards**





EUROPEAN MIDWIVES ASSOCIATION

# We welcome the development of these Standards on the philosophy and organisation of care in midwifery units throughout Europe.

There is now a convincing and expanding body of evidence indicating that continuity of midwifeled care is particularly suitable for healthy women with uncomplicated pregnancies in settings with well-trained midwives and good health systems. This has been translated into policy at the national and global level. In similar contexts, with well-functioning referral systems, midwife led care in out of hospital settings is associated with maternal reports of more positive pregnancy and birth experiences when compared to women using hospital- based maternity care. Better outcomes are also reported for healthy women of any parity, along with similar perinatal outcomes, especially for second and subsequent babies. These findings are also reflected in national policy documents.

However, there are still too few well supported and resourced midwife-led units available around the world, and this limits the opportunity for provision of optimal, consistent, high-quality, safe, cost-effective care for women and their babies.

If midwives, other healthcare professionals and policymakers can show leadership in Europe in developing the kind of services these Standards represent, this could provide a powerful model for best practice both in and out of hospital settings. As health systems strengthen in low and middle income countries, the Standards could also be a catalyst for change in settings where both in and out of hospital maternity care provision is sub-optimal.

We congratulate the Midwifery Unit Network in taking this initiative and developing Standards using an inclusive, co-production methodology.

We would encourage professional organisations and individual leaders to use this tool as part of local quality improvement and to take the initiative to move maternity care forward into the future.

#### Soo Downe

**Professor in Midwifery Studies** University of Central Lancashire

#### Franka Cadée

*ICM President* International Confederation of Midwives Jacky Nizard Professor of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Sorbonne University, Paris, France President European Board and College of Obstetrics and Gynaecology

#### **Midwifery Unit Standards**

Produced by the Midwifery Unit Network and City, University of London.

Endorsed by:

European Midwives Association

#### Authors:

Lucia Rocca-Ihenacho Laura Batinelli Ellen Thaels Juliet Rayment Mary Newburn Christine McCourt

#### **Funding:**

National Institute for Health Research The Royal College of Midwives City, University of London

These standards accurately reflect recommendations in the NICE guidance on intrapartum care for healthy women and babies. They also support statement 1 in the NICE quality standard for intrapartum care.

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence

October 2019



© Copyright City, University of London 2018 - 2019. Published by Midwifery Unit Network Limited under licence from City, University of London

Amended version 4, July 2020

## **CONTENTS**

Executive summary			
List of themes and Standards			
Background			
What is a Midwifery Unit?			
What is the philosophy of care of midwifery units?			
Why were the Standards developed?			
Who are the Standards for?			
How can the Standards be used in different European countries?			
What if the current culture has no concept of midwifery units?	9		
When will the Standards be reviewed?			
Theme 1 - Bio-psycho-social model of care			
Theme 2 - Equality, diversity and social inclusion	11		
Theme 3 - Working across professional and physical boundaries	12		
Theme 4 - Women's pathways of care	13		
Theme 5 - Staffing and workload			
Theme 6 - Knowledge, skills and training			
Theme 7 - Environment and facilities	17		
Theme 8 - Autonomy and accountability	19		
Theme 9 - Leadership	20		
Theme 10 - Clinical Governance			
References	24		
Appendix 1 – Methods for the creation of the Midwifery Unit Standards			
Appendix 2 – Acknowledgements			

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

# One important aspect of implementing evidence-based care in maternity is extending midwifery care settings, and increasing women's access to them (Renfrew et al., 2014; Miller et al., 2016; WHO, 2016).

The Midwifery Unit Network (MUNet) and the European Midwives Association (EMA) have been working collaboratively to influence the implementation of maternity policies that relate to the safety, the health of women and their babies, and access to evidence-based maternity care.

Promoting and supporting the implementation, development and growth of midwifery units which provide holistic care to women and their family throughout Europe, is one of the aims of the MUNet. We envisage midwifery units becoming the main care pathway for healthy women with straightforward pregnancies. In order to scale up the implementation of midwifery units across Europe safely, quality standards are necessary.

The creation of the Midwifery Unit Standards is the first joint output of the collaboration between MUNet and EMA. These Standards have been developed to guide midwives, managers and commissioners across Europe in creating and developing midwifery units. They focus on philosophy of care and the organisation of services.

The aim of the Midwifery Unit Standards is to improve the quality of maternity care, reduce variability of practices and facilitate a bio-psycho-social model of care. They address the guidance gap in implementation of midwifery units (both in hospitals and in the primary care settings).

The development of the Standards has used a robust and inclusive, co-produced, evidence-based process. Full details of the methods and methodology can be found in Appendix 1. In summary, this involved the following steps:

- 1) A systematic review and synthesis of the qualitative evidence on the provision of good quality care in midwifery units was conducted between January and October 2017.
- 2) A Delphi study was conducted, using clear expertise criteria, which involved two online surveys with 122 invited experts and an overall response rate of 48 percent. The first Delphi survey was launched in May 2017 and the second in February 2018.
- Semi-structured interviews were conducted with the service leaders of high-performing midwifery units to expand the themes which were underrepresented.
- 4) The findings from the evidence review were integrated into the Delphi survey questions.
- 5) A series of stakeholder meetings were organised to review the initial items and then the draft Standards document at each key stage of development. The first stakeholder meeting was held in London and the second at the International Confederation of Midwives in Toronto in June 2017. A third stakeholder meeting was held in London in December 2017.
- 6) Peer review was conducted by 12 interdisciplinary European stakeholders.

Theme 1	Bio-psycho-social model of care				
	Standard 1	The midwifery unit has a written and public philosophy of care setting out shared values and beliefs			
Theme 2	Equality, diversity and social inclusion				
	Standard 2	The midwifery unit has a policy relating to respect, diversity and inclusion			
Theme 3	Working acro	ss professional and physical boundaries			
	Standard 3	There is a shared written commitment to mutual respect and cross-boundary working across the whole maternity service			
	Standard 4	The midwifery unit has a linked lead midwife, obstetrician and neonatologist			
	Standard 5	There is a clear policy and procedures for transfers			
Theme 4	Women's pathways of care				
	Standard 6	The midwifery unit commits to a philosophy of providing information as early as possible, and keeping decisions open			
	Standard 7	The midwifery unit is a hub integrated with the local community			
	Standard 8	The midwifery unit pathway is open to all women for personalised and individualised care			
	Standard 9	The midwifery unit has clear referral pathways			
Theme 5	eme 5 Staffing and workload				
	Standard 10	Essential staffing includes a core staff team and midwifery leadership on site to promote high standards, a sense of ownership and an appropriate philosophy of care			
	Standard 11	Assessment of workload should include all activities on the midwifery unit, not just the intrapartum care and number of births			
Theme 6	Knowledge, s	kills and training			
	Standard 12	There is a written agreed list of knowledge and skills required of midwives in order to work in a midwifery unit			
	Standard 13	The midwifery unit has plans for education and continuing professional development			
	Standard 14	The midwifery unit has a framework for preceptorship and orientation			
Theme 7	Environment and facilities				
	Standard 15	The midwifery unit offers an environment that promotes a bio-psycho-social model of care and building relationships			
	Standard 16	The midwifery unit offers an environment which supports mobilisation and active birth			
	Standard 17	The midwifery unit offers an environment that protects and promotes relaxation, privacy and dignity			
	Standard 18	The physical layout and design of the midwifery unit conveys the bio-psycho-social values of the care model			
	Standard 19	The midwifery unit is visible and accessible in the community			
Theme 8	Autonomy an	d accountability			
	Standard 20	The midwifery unit has a policy acknowledging midwives' autonomy and accountability			
	Standard 21	The midwifery unit has a policy acknowledging women's autonomy			
Theme 9	Leadership				
	Standard 22	There is a visible and consistent leadership within the midwifery unit			
	Standard 23	The midwifery unit has high-quality transformational leadership			
	Standard 24	There is a multidisciplinary and service users advisory group, which sets out a vision for the midwifery unit			
Theme 10	Clinical gover	nance			
	Standard 25	The midwifery unit has evidence-based guidelines, policies and procedures subject to regular review			
	Standard 26	The midwifery unit has guidance on eligibility criteria and choice of place of birth			
	Standard 27	The midwifery unit demonstrates commitment towards continuous improvement			
	Standard 28	The midwifery unit has a robust information system			
	Standard 29	The midwifery unit includes plans for communication and marketing			

## BACKGROUND

More than five million women give birth each year across the European Union (EU). Despite a significant improvement in maternity care, inequalities persist in access to women's healthcare in the EU Member States, including significant variations in maternity provision (EBCOG, 2014), practice and outcomes (Macfarlane et al., 2016). Increasing the implementation of evidencebased care and reducing variation would lead to improved public health. It is also important to respect women's human rights and respond to research findings on women's satisfaction. Alongside this, developments in maternity care need to be planned in a context of constrained economic and human resources for healthcare (Macfarlane et al., 2016). One important aspect of implementing evidence-based care is extending midwifery care settings, and increasing women's access to them (International Confederation of Midwives, 2011; Renfrew et al., 2014; WHO and UNFPA, 2014; Miller et al., 2016; WHO, 2016).

The Global strategic directions for strengthening nursing and midwifery in the period 2016-2020 (WHO, 2016) stressed that midwives can provide 87% of the essential care for women and newborns, when educated and regulated to international standards, as well as being the most cost-effective healthcare providers for childbearing women. Europe has a large cadre of well-educated midwives, so is well placed to develop further provision in the short and medium term. The Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health (Kuruvilla et al., 2016), launched in 2015, set ambitious objectives to enhance women's health in line with the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). These were grouped within three themes: 1) Survive (end preventable deaths); 2) Thrive (promote health and well-being); and 3) Transform (expand enabling environments). Midwives are a crucial resource for achieving these objectives.

In February 2018, The World Health Organisation published guidance on the need for more holistic maternity care (WHO, 2018). They asserted that in addition to delivering maternity care that is clinically effective, 'more needs to be done to make women feel safe and comfortable about the experience (of labour and childbirth)' (WHO, 2018). The report found that the medicalisation of childbirth, a phrase used to describe regular use of medical interventions to initiate, accelerate, regulate and monitor pregnancy, may have undermined women's confidence and capability to give birth, and potentially diminished 'what should be a positive, lifechanging experience'. They recommended a need to focus on providing respectful care, emotional support, continuity of relationships with carers, encouragement of mobility and other measures to address this problem (WHO, 2018). The White Ribbon Alliance statement on Respectful Maternity Care, which sets out the universal rights of childbearing women, also emphasises the importance of respectful care and women's autonomy (White Ribbon Alliance, 2012). Many of these approaches and principles are central to the values of midwifery unit care.

The International Confederation of Midwives (ICM) has created many valuable global standards, on topics such as midwifery education, capacity assessment and competencies (International Confederation of Midwives, 2013), however to date there have been no specific standards put forward for midwifery units.

# WHAT IS A MIDWIFERY UNIT?

In some European countries, including England, Wales and Scotland, maternity units, community units or birth centres managed and staffed by midwives have a long history. Before hospital birth was common, maternity units in community settings were the main form of provision, alongside home birth.

Since the 1970s however, despite the lack of evidence, women in most European countries have been advised to give birth in hospital and many birth centres closed. Following the first review of intrapartum care by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE, 2007), a large national cohort study was commissioned in England to address questions of safety and economic costs (Brocklehurst et al., 2011).

This study found that in healthy women with an uncomplicated pregnancy, labour care initiated in midwifery units (both in the community and within hospital settings), with transfer to the obstetric unit as required, was associated with lower levels of intrapartum interventions and maternal morbidity. The outcomes for babies were no different than for those of similar women receiving all of their intrapartum care in an obstetric unit (Brocklehurst et al., 2011).

NICE revised guidance on intrapartum care following the publication of more robust evidence on places of birth (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014).

The revised guidance emphasises that for both healthy multiparous and nulliparous women who are experiencing straightforward pregnancies, giving birth is generally very safe for both the woman and her baby. NICE recommended that those women should be advised that planning to give birth in a midwifery unit (freestanding or alongside) is 'particularly suitable for them

#### DEFINITION

A midwifery unit (MU) is a location offering maternity care to healthy women with straightforward pregnancies in which midwives take primary professional responsibility for care. Midwifery units may be located away from (Freestanding) or adjacent to (Alongside) an obstetric service.

Alongside midwifery unit (AMU) - during labour and birth, medical diagnostic and treatment services, including obstetric, neonatal and anaesthetic care are available to women in a different part of the same building, or in a separate building on the same site.

This may include access to interventions that can be carried out by midwives, for example electronic fetal heart monitoring. To access such services, women will need to transfer to the obstetric unit, which will normally be by trolley, bed or wheelchair.

Freestanding midwifery unit (FMU) - medical diagnostic and treatment services and interventions are not available in the same building or on the same site. Access is available as part of an integrated service, but transfer will normally involve a journey by ambulance or car.

Modified from: Rowe, R. and the Birthplace in England Collaborative group, 2011

because the rate of interventions is lower and the outcome for the baby is no different compared with an obstetric unit' (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014).

Women's experiences of care were also more positive when they were cared for in midwifery unit settings (Overgaard, Fenger-Grøn and Sandall, 2012; Macfarlane et al. 2014a, 2014b). Furthermore, economic evaluation of comparative care pathways for women without pregnancy complications has concluded that midwifery units (both in the community and in hospital) are less expensive and more cost-effective than obstetric unit care (Schroeder et al., 2011).

Scarf et al. (2018) have concluded that provision of midwifery-led settings should be expanded and systems to support change, including staff training and guidance, should be implemented.

Clinical recommendations for the care of women in midwifery units, and the integration of those midwifery units into maternity services (including governance arrangements, transfer policies, and recommendations for assessment and care in labour) are found in NICE clinical guideline CG190 'Intrapartum Care for healthy women and babies', which is therefore a key resource. This is guidance to the NHS in England and, we believe, useful for informing practice in other countries in Europe.

# WHAT IS THE PHILOSOPHY OF CARE OF MIDWIFERY UNITS?

Researchers have demonstrated how midwifery units adopt and promote a bio-psycho-social model of care that addresses physical, psychological and social needs, also referred to as a social model of care (Walsh and Newburn, 2002). The model promotes equality between women and their carers, bodily autonomy and informed decision-making (McCourt et al., 2012; Overgaard, Fenger-Grøn and Sandall, 2012; Macfarlane et al., 2014a, 2014b; McCourt et al., 2014). Services are organised around the social needs of women and families, so aim to provide a comfortable, homely atmosphere, rather than a clinical environment, which can seem impersonal, cold and frightening. Services aspiring to work within this philosophy of care seek to respect and empower women and their birth supporters during pregnancy and birth, as well as facilitating a positive transition to parenthood. In order to deliver this kind of service, it is important to offer an empowering working environment for midwives and maternity support workers to ensure that the team embraces a positive working culture which fosters learning and continuous development (McCourt et al., 2011, 2014; Rocca-Ihenacho, Newburn and Byrom, 2017).

# WHY WERE THE STANDARDS DEVELOPED?

The growing evidence of the positive outcomes from midwifery units (MUs), particularly evidence from the Birthplace in England Programme in 2011, has fed interest in developing MUs across Europe. In the UK, the National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (NICE) updated their guidelines, recommending that healthcare professionals offer unbiased information and should advise healthy women with uncomplicated pregnancies that MU care is particularly suitable for them, while supporting them in whatever decision about birth setting they make (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014).

Similar recommendations and changes in policy are also likely to occur across mainland Europe. With the numbers of MUs growing, the first Midwifery Unit Network European meeting in 2016 raised the need for practical guidance on what midwifery units are, what care they provide and what the characteristics of well-functioning MUs are.

These Standards follow extensive work by the American Association of Birth Centres, which approved the first Standards for Birth Centres in 1985. In the UK, the Royal College of Midwives published the Standards for Birth Centres in England in 2009, which to date has remained the only Standards document published for midwifery units in Europe.

# WHO ARE THE STANDARDS FOR?

- Anyone who is setting up, running, or working in a midwifery unit;
- Stakeholders responsible for the organisation of national, regional and local health services and allocating resources;
- Professionals providing support to a midwifery unit, such as ambulance services, obstetric unit clinicians and service managers;
- Providers of midwifery unit care to self-assess their provision against key quality criteria and for planning service improvements.

## HOW CAN THE STANDARDS BE USED IN DIFFERENT EUROPEAN COUNTRIES?

#### The Standards focus on philosophy of care and organisation of services and they are intended to be used alongside clinical guidelines.

In some countries, midwife-led care for healthy pregnancy and birth is more established than others. Some countries do not yet provide midwifery-led care and do not have midwifery units according to the definition used for this document, and some are in the process of implementation. We recognise that although midwifery has been regulated at the European level, there is great diversity in care models and clinical practices between and within countries (Macfarlane et al., 2015). The Standards will enable different services to self-assess their philosophy of care, service organisation and related practices, enabling them to benchmark their provision and to identify objectives and develop implementation plans.

# WHAT IF THE CURRENT CULTURE HAS NO CONCEPT OF MIDWIFERY UNITS?

#### Change in the provision of services often happens slowly. A range of different factors can be the catalyst for change.

It is important to consider local circumstances, opportunities and needs. There is no 'one size fits all' prescription. For example, midwifery units come in different sizes and use different staffing models. In terms of the number of women and families they support, in England the annual number of births varies from <100 up to around 2,000 (Walsh et al., 2018). Despite some MUs still restricting their provision to intrapartum care, others provide a wide range of services with financial contributions from different sources, such as child health, smoking cessation or mental health services. Some units are opened by community-based midwives when a woman is in labour but are closed at other times.

We hope these Standards will stimulate reflection and debate about improving service provision for women and families and developing opportunities for midwifery care. Services may differ from these Standards in ways that make sense within their own context. Not all Standards will be currently achievable or entirely relevant in all countries, but we hope that whatever the current provision, positive changes can be made in relation to the key themes.

## WHEN WILL THE STANDARDS BE REVIEWED?

As the available evidence increases, practical experience develops, and policy frameworks and national guidelines evolve, we envisage that there will be a need to revise and update the Standards and to reconsider their scope. We aim to review the Standards in five years, or sooner if significant evidence is published prompting the need for an earlier review. As a reader of these Standards you are invited to send us feedback and contribute insights from your experience of using them.

#### Dr Rocca-Ihenacho.

Centre for Maternal and Child Health Research School of Health Sciences City, University of London 1 Myddelton Street London, EC1R 1UB, UK

Email: Lucia.Rocca-Ihenacho@city.ac.uk

# THEME 1 - Bio-psycho-social model of care

The midwifery unit (MU) provides care based on the bio-psycho-social model of care (Jordan and Davis-Floyd, 1993; Davis-Floyd, 2001; Bryers and Van Teijlingen, 2010; Renfrew et al., 2014; Miller et al., 2016; WHO, 2016). This model recognises childbirth as a physiological process which has inherent sociocultural and psychological dimensions (Walsh and Newburn, 2002). It reflects evidence that these dimensions cannot easily be separated, and that high-quality maternity care should take account of all of them.

Midwifery units aim to encourage a sense of autonomy in women, active promotion of health and wellbeing, as well as protection from harm. These aims are encompassed by the two key concepts of salutogenesis and safety (Downe, 2010; Renfrew et al., 2014; Kennedy et al., 2018).

### **STANDARD 1**

#### The midwifery unit has a written and public philosophy of care setting out shared values g) Acknowledges a clear understanding that caring for staff and beliefs

The MU has a written philosophy of care document which needs to be mutually agreed among stakeholders. This document needs to be in line with the philosophy of care and values of the wider maternity services and includes a commitment towards:

#### **1.1** Facilitating a physiological pregnancy, labour, birth and care of the baby

- a) Supports staff skills and practices that facilitate physiological pregnancy, labour, birth, bonding, neonatal care and transition to parenthood;
- b) States that interventions should be considered and justified in relation to best clinical evidence, on the basis that the potential benefits outweigh the potential harms.

#### 1.2 Offering personalised and supportive care that promotes physical and psychological wellbeing

- a) Recognises childbirth as a key life event and transition for mothers, babies, families and birth companions;
- b) Promotes emotional wellbeing in pregnancy, labour and birth and in the early days of motherhood;
- c) Respects women's human and reproductive rights to dignity, privacy and autonomy;
- d) Welcomes the woman's chosen companions;
- e) Commits to providing a positive start to caring for the baby, including working with Baby Friendly accreditation (UNICEF, 2017);



Image © Sarah Ainslie Photography www.sarahainslie.com

- f) Endorses effective and prompt escalation and transfer to obstetric care, while still focusing on positive experiences and personalised supportive care;
- wellbeing helps to promote caring behaviours.

#### 1.3 Promoting a social model of care

- a) Providing holistic, woman-centred and family-focused care that is responsive to the reality of people's lives and supportive of equal access, equality and cultural diversity;
- b) Offering a wide range of integrated services and activities including, but not limited to, active birth workshops, baby massage groups, breastfeeding groups and new parent support groups. In deciding on such provision, consideration will be given to effective ways in which the MU can promote women's sense of wellbeing and empowerment in preparing for birth. Additionally, freestanding midwifery units (FMUs) may function as a Community Hub and offer an even wider range of services not limited to the provision of maternity and health care:
- c) Welcoming any potential service users, by offering information and support relating to pregnancy, birth and the postnatal period, as well as the opportunity to have a tour of the MU;
- d) Reinforcing an understanding that all care providers in the broader maternity care system would benefit from awareness of and training in a social model of care, recognising their impact on the experiences of women and families and overall quality of care.

# THEME 2 - Equality, diversity and social inclusion

# Equality, diversity and social inclusion are key indicators of good quality maternity care (WHO, 2017).

When services are proactive in planning ways to reach and engage all women, to ensure that each is able to access the model of care that suits their personal circumstances, this can be very successful in addressing existing inequalities. MUs can provide a salutogenic health promoting environment in which women who are marginalised, discriminated against or in vulnerable situations, and their babies, can thrive (Overgaard, Fenger-Grøn and Sandall, 2012)

### **STANDARD 2**

# The midwifery unit has a policy relating to respect, diversity and inclusion

- a) Each MU has an analysis of use by socio-economic status and ethnicity of service users and will assess this against local population analysis and review the extent to which it is serving the diverse population;
- b) Each MU will periodically review the needs profile of its local population, in order to inform and align the services it offers with those needs;
- c) Before, and regularly after, the opening of a MU, managers and MU staff engage the local community and involve community leaders to understand population experiences and needs;
- d) The MU aims to maximise access to care with a specific focus on accessibility for women in vulnerable situations and improving timely and appropriate access to care;
- e) The MU has language and communication support available as required for people who have language and/or communication needs to ensure that they can understand information, be understood by staff and make fully informed decisions about their care, this can include cultural mediation;
- f) The structure of the MU respects minority rights and works in partnership with local networks which support socially disadvantaged families and children.



Image © Sarah Ainslie Photography www.sarahainslie.com

# **THEME 3 –** Working across professional and physical boundaries

Evidence suggests that positive interprofessional relationships based on mutual respect and trust are crucial for good clinical outcomes, positive service user experiences and satisfying professional working lives (EBCOG, 2014). Research conducted on MUs has highlighted that often relationships between MU and obstetric unit staff could be more positive; sometimes there is evidence of a 'them and us' culture of conflict between the settings (McCourt et al., 2011, 2014; Roccalhenacho, Newburn and Byrom, 2017).

Evidence (Kirkham, 2010; McCourt et al., 2011; Rocca-Ihenacho, Newburn and Byrom, 2017) on MUs highlighted that often struggling MUs present common features, including:

- poor leadership;
- a culture where the obstetric unit is seen as the 'norm' and the MU is considered an expensive alternative;
- a lack of interdisciplinary collaboration, as well as challenges in relation to the boundaries between the obstetric unit and the MU.

Geographical boundaries can also influence the way groups of professionals work together and can create obstacles to seamless pathways of care. However, when stakeholders work in a collaborative manner to identify cultural or geographical barriers and prioritise cooperation to facilitate smooth, well-integrated, pathways of care, women and families benefit. This includes facilitating consultations with other professionals for women receiving midwife-led care, and transfer of care to the obstetric unit when this is required.

Maternity services can introduce policy and practices that acknowledge the importance of a positive organisational culture of working across boundaries, co-production and collaboration with all stakeholders (National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014).

### **STANDARD 3**

There is a shared written commitment to mutual respect and cross-boundary working across the whole maternity service

The document includes statements on:

- a) Promoting ownership among maternity staff;
- b) Fostering open and positive multidisciplinary communication within the maternity unit and between all parts of the maternity system;
- c) Holding co-production reviews and planning sessions and celebration events.

### **STANDARD 4**

#### The midwifery unit has a linked lead midwife, a linked obstetrician and neonatologist

- a) The linked lead from each professional discipline is consulted for key organisational and clinical decisions;
- b) The linked professionals provide support to the MU.

### **STANDARD 5**

# There is a clear policy and procedures for transfers

The policy and transfer procedures include:

- a) Agreements with local ambulance services (if FMU);
- D) Operational transfer procedures that promote the integration of services and seamless pathways for women transferring between MUs and obstetric units;
- c) Joint vision and strategic planning across primary and secondary care settings, and between adjoining secondary care services where appropriate.

# THEME 4 - Women's pathways of care

Women's pathways of care must be planned to be as seamless as possible and aim to engender positive experiences regardless of where the woman gives birth: at home, the FMU, AMU or OU. Evidence suggests that women want to receive reliable, evidence-based information about place of birth and its relevance for their individual situation early in pregnancy, with regular opportunities for respectful woman-centred discussion during the antenatal pathway (Coxon, Sandall and Fulop, 2013). Research also suggests that when care is well coordinated, and staff have a shared philosophy and values, the experience of women and their birth supporters is more positive (Rocca-Ihenacho, Newburn and Byrom, 2017).

A woman's pathway may include a consultation with a more senior professional to discuss the woman's specific situation and consider her options. The subsequent plan of care will be developed in partnership with the woman and taking into consideration the evidence-based advice of the clinician. This plan is continuously reviewed and rediscussed during the woman's maternity care journey.

### **STANDARD 6**

#### The midwifery unit commits to a philosophy of providing information as early as possible, and keeping decisions open

- a) Evidence-based information about pathways of care and place of birth is available at the commencement of antenatal care and thereafter;
- Women and their significant others have equal access to information about MUs and pathways of care regardless of sociocultural and clinical factors;
- c) All members of the multidisciplinary team should provide consistent, unbiased, evidence-based information about place of birth and pathways of care, which is respectful and recognises a woman's autonomy.

#### **STANDARD 7**

# The midwifery unit is a hub integrated with the local community

a) All local women may access the majority of maternity services via the MU, regardless of where they intend to give birth;

- b) For an FMU, community integration could consist of a fully integrated team covering the MU, community and homebirth services and/or integration with caseloading midwives;
- c) For an AMU, community integration might consist of community midwives doing shifts at the MU and/ or integration of caseloading midwives accompanying women to the unit in labour;
- d) All women and babies using the MU have access to supportive antenatal and postnatal services including proactive support with physical changes, emotional changes and infant feeding, as well as hearing screening, newborn examination, doctors' review etc.

### **STANDARD 8**

#### The midwifery unit pathway is open to all women for personalised and individualised care

- a) Every MU has evidence-based guideline for women's suitability for midwifery led care (e.g. NICE, 2014; RQIA / GAIN, 2016 or Healy & Gillen, 2017 Guidelines);
- b) Every MU has the possibility to offer each woman a personalised care plan appointment to discuss her wishes, regardless of pregnancy complexities (e.g. birth options clinic);
- c) During such an appointment, the woman can discuss her options with a senior member of staff;
- d) There is a personalised care plan and named professional responsible for each woman and baby's care.

### **STANDARD 9**

#### The MU has specific referral pathways

- a) For the indications and the process of transfer to an obstetric unit or neonatal Unit (with a clear statement of acknowledgement of a woman's autonomy);
- b) For local health and social care;
- c) Specific protocols for multi-disciplinary and inter-agency referrals;
- d) Referrals to primary care, family doctors or general practitioners.

# THEME 5 - Staffing and workload

MU services are needed 24 hours a day, seven days a week. This can be offered by the MU being continuously staffed or by having midwives on call. The MU service recognises that spontaneous births are more likely to occur during night time hours than during the day and numbers tend to peak between 1 and 7am (Macfarlane et al., 2018). During pregnancy and postnatally, women often have a continuing and/or urgent need for midwifery care. Strong evidence suggests that continuity of carer models achieve the best outcomes (Sandall et al., 2016) and services should implement continuity of carer in MUs as much as possible, including when transfer to the obstetric unit occurs and during the postnatal period. This may involve having a team of midwives working across the FMU or AMU and homebirth, offering antenatal, intrapartum and postnatal care following the woman's preferences.

It may not be possible or necessary to have a physical unit that is staffed all of the time (24/7), but the principle is to offer care whenever it is needed, staffing the women rather than facilities. MUs offer a unique opportunity to implement continuity of carer and flexibility of midwifery services around women's needs and preferences.

### **STANDARD 10**

Essential staffing includes a core staff team and midwifery leadership on site to promote high standards, a sense of ownership and an appropriate philosophy of care

There is a sufficient number of staff to ensure:

- a) A 24/7 service is available. In some contexts, this may involve midwives who are available to provide care at home or in the unit when required, rather than core staffing 24/7 (e.g. community or caseload midwives);
- b) 1-to-1 care and continuous presence in labour;
- c) Safe care for mother and baby, including a clear MU staffing escalation policy to ensure safe transfer
- d) Midwives providing care in the MU are able to transfer with the woman when she wishes or needs to transfer to obstetric unit care;
- e) Support from a senior midwife is always available (in person, by telephone, or on call);
- f) Midwifery staff who can perform the required examination of the newborn and discharge a well-baby;



Image © Sarah Ainslie Photography www.sarahainslie.com

- g) A second midwife is available during the second stage of labour and present at birth;
- h) An appropriate number of maternity support staff as part of the core team to assist midwives.

#### **STANDARD 11**

#### Assessment of workload should include all activities on the midwifery unit, not just the intrapartum care and number of births

Care that the midwifery unit provides may include:

- a) Assessment by a midwife (ideally the named midwife or her team) by phone, at home, or at the MU when it is required by the woman for any need, both in pregnancy and in initial labour;
- b) Discharge from the midwifery unit;
- c) Breastfeeding support, examination of newborn, hearing screening etc.;
- d) Antenatal and postnatal appointments;
- e) Tours of the midwifery unit;
- f) Antenatal and postnatal groups;
- g) Other groups/sessions/community-linked activities which midwives lead and/or participate in.

# THEME 6 - Knowledge, skills and training

It is crucial that midwives working in FMUs and AMUs provide safe, competent, evidence-based care which is tailored around the needs of the women as well as their preferences (International Confederation of Midwives, 2013; National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, 2014).

As most midwives' training is still based in obstetric units, it is essential that all midwives are supported in developing the philosophy, knowledge and skills required to care for women in MUs (Rocca-Ihenacho, Newburn and Byrom, 2017; Walker et al., 2018).

Evidence also suggests that the organisational and team culture can strongly influence whether a positive learning environment is fostered (Alderwick et al., 2017). Previous research on MUs suggests that they function well when there is a philosophy of shared learning and sharing of good practice (learning from each other), as well as trusting relationships among the team (McCourt et al., 2011, 2014; Rayment et al., 2015; Rocca-Ihenacho, Newburn and Byrom, 2017).

### **STANDARD 12**

#### There is a written agreed list of knowledge and skills required of midwives in order to work in a midwifery unit

The midwifery unit has a document in place detailing the knowledge and skills required of midwives including, but not limited to:

- a) Comprehensive understanding of physiology and anatomy in relation to pregnancy, birth and the postnatal period;
- b) Capacity to provide respectful care;
- c) Ability to deal with difficult interpersonal situations;
- d) Communication and supportive techniques for physiological labour and birth;
- e) Understanding and application of evidence-based practice;
- f) Understanding of how to use evidence and guidelines as guides, and not as rules for individual women;
- g) Reflective and reflexive skills;
- h) Fetal assessment, including intermittent auscultation;
- i) Use of water and water birth;
- j) Obstetric emergencies in the MU (including initial care, escalation and transfer);



Image © Rory Flint

- k) Maternal (Basic Life Support or BLS) & Neonatal (Neonatal Life Support or NLS) resuscitation;
- I) Drug prescription (where available) and administration;
- m) IV cannulation;
- n) Suturing;
- Decision-making skills in relation to initial assessment, ongoing assessment and decisions to recommend transfer to the OU.

### **STANDARD 13**

#### The midwifery unit has plans for education and continuing professional development

- a) MU staff have dedicated time for training, team building and team meetings;
- b) Interdisciplinary training days include midwives, obstetricians, maternity support workers, neonatologists, ambulance services and primary care doctors/general practitioners (with some of the study days to be located in the MU);
- c) Training for the whole interdisciplinary team including knowledge and skills on personalised care, women's autonomy, and physiological labour and birth;
- d) All staff are up to date with the most recent evidence and have communication skills to share this information with women;
- e) There are team meetings (at least monthly) to learn from each other and maintain a shared philosophy and vision of the MU;
- f) The organisation supports the achievement of accreditation frameworks, such as UNICEF Baby Friendly;
- g) Training (at least yearly) should include, but is not limited to:
  - how to support physiological birth;
  - communication skills;
  - partnership in decision-making and women's autonomy;
  - assessment of fetal wellbeing and intermittent auscultation;
  - obstetric emergencies in midwifery-led settings and skills for transfer;
  - maternal and neonatal (NLS) resuscitation.

#### **STANDARD 14**

# The midwifery unit has a framework for preceptorship and orientation

- a) Maximise opportunities for different maternity care professionals and students to be exposed to normality, physiology and midwifery-led care so that the philosophy can be spread across the maternity service, whilst respecting the uniqueness of the moment and privacy of women;
- b) Each maternity care professional has an orientation in the midwifery unit to familiarise them with the environment, equipment and staff;
- c) The welcome pack and/or preceptorship booklet includes specific MU values and skills;
- d) All maternity care professionals and students have an opportunity for placement experience within a MU environment during their education.



Image © Ellen Thaels, Midwifery Unit Network

# THEME 7 – Environment and facilities

The physical environment plays a key role in determining service users' experiences (McCourt et al., 2016). The midwifery unit environment influences and potentially promotes the health and wellbeing of the women, their families and staff using the facilities (Jenkinson, Josey and Kruske, 2013; Hammond, Homer and Foureur, 2017). It is important to consider the location of the midwifery unit in relation to the obstetric unit, as well as ensuring a salutogenic environment (McCourt et al., 2016) within the unit itself: one that promotes health, the establishment of positive nurturing relationships, the needs of the birthing mother, such as privacy, space to move and a calm atmosphere, and provision for the needs of birthing partners and family members.

Country-specific safety rules and regulation for safety in public infrastructures will be followed by the MU.

### **STANDARD 15**

The midwifery unit offers an environment that promotes a bio-psycho-social model of care and building relationships

- a) The philosophy of the MU should be communicated throughout its physical environment and all of the visual and written images, including pictures of waterbirth, breastfeeding babies, relaxing landscapes, use of colours, fabrics and textures etc.;
- b) The MU includes communal social spaces, such as an area where women can spend time together, service users and staff can use communal kitchen space etc.

### **STANDARD 16**

#### The midwifery unit offers an environment which supports mobilisation and active birth\*

- a) Birth rooms in the MU have space for the woman to mobilise freely during labour and birth, and the bed does not occupy a dominant position in the room;
- b) The room is configured to facilitate movement of furniture and equipment;
- c) Equipment is provided to support active birth: birth mats, bean bags, birthing balls, etc.;
- d) In every birth room, there is a birthing pool and/or a large bath or shower;
- e) Access to external green space is provided if possible, to encourage women to walk about in natural environments during labour.
  - \*Active birth is underpinned by 3 fundamental ideas:
  - 1. The mother is encouraged to use instinctive upright birthing positions; 2. Natural hormone responses are stimulated during labour;

3. The woman is empowered to make her own choices about birth. (www.activebirthcentre.com, accessed November 2019)

#### **STANDARD 17**

#### The midwifery unit offers an environment that protects and promotes relaxation, privacy and dignity

- a) The birthing room allows for flexibility to regulate lights, filter external daylight, regulate colours and be adjusted to the personal preferences of the labouring woman;
- b) There is an area between the public space and the birthing rooms to protect privacy and ensure a quiet atmosphere. This can be achieved through the architecture of the room or, if necessary, using furniture;
- c) The windows in the birthing rooms and clinical consultation rooms need to allow for privacy, as well as creating a darker environment if needed.

Upper left: © Meadow Birth Centre (credited to Worcestershire Acute Hospitals NHS Trust). Lower right: © Evelyn Gomes dos Anjos (evelynangelfotografia@gmail.com).





Image © Lucia Rocca-Ihenacho, Midwifery Unit Network (Barkantine Birth Centre)

#### **STANDARD 18**

# The physical layout and design of the midwifery unit conveys the bio-psycho-social values of the care model

- a) Consideration is given to the unit's location in relation to other services. MUs should be maintained as separate and independent physical spaces, with a separate entrance door, reception area, consultation rooms and facilities such as kitchen and social space;
- b) The number of birthing rooms required can be calculated on the basis of the estimated yearly number of births (36% of births achievable as per Walsh et al., 2018), considering the full yearly capacity of one room to be between 100 to 150 births (maximum);
- c) A midwifery unit includes:
  - consultation rooms for antenatal and postnatal care;
  - storage spaces e.g. to avoid clinical and other supplies and equipment being left on display and in communal areas;
  - spatial arrangements for disposal of domestic waste and soiled linen;
  - delivery of goods and services;
  - equipment for obstetric emergencies and neonatal resuscitation that is regularly maintained and ideally hidden from sight;
  - furniture that facilitates cleaning and conforms with infection control guidelines specific for the MU;
  - depending on the nature of the services offered, a space for antenatal and postnatal groups and classes (e.g. breastfeeding courses, active birth workshops, antenatal education), baby massage, training etc.

#### d) The birth room includes:

- a double bed for postnatal rest, which allows partners or companions to stay and be comfortable overnight;
- an en-suite bathroom;
- a birthing pool wherever possible;
- emergency and clinical equipment that is stored away when not needed;
- neonatal resuscitation equipment in the room (not visible) or portable resuscitaires stored outside the room;
- adequate equipment which could facilitate suturing when needed (stored when not in use).
- e) Women should be able to be accommodated in the same room for labour, birth and the postnatal stay, if they wish;
- f) The MU follows infection control guidelines specific for the MU.

#### **STANDARD 19**

# The midwifery unit is visible and accessible in the community

- a) The MU is easily visible and accessible to the public, through a clear descriptive name and signage, clear signs to indicate the easiest way to access the unit, car parking facilities for staff and women using the facilities, and links to public transport;
- b) The MU is easily accessible and has the appropriate facilities to facilitate prompt transfer to an obstetric/ neonatal unit when needed or in case of emergencies.

# THEME 8 - Autonomy and accountability

Despite strong evidence suggesting that midwiferyled settings are associated with improved outcomes for healthy women with an uncomplicated pregnancy and their babies, there is still lack of provision and under-utilisation. At national policy level and within health services, midwives in many European countries still struggle to be represented in systems and to have the structures and facilities in place to enable them to practice with professional autonomy (International Confederation of Midwives, 2011).

Maternity services across Europe have not always been constructed and organized around women's needs and right to make informed choices (White Ribbon Alliance, 2012). Midwifery units offer an environment where a woman's autonomy can and should be upheld, alongside midwives' autonomy in supporting women in their choices.

### **STANDARD 20**

#### The midwifery unit has a policy acknowledging midwives' autonomy and accountability

The MU policy includes:

- a) A clear statement acknowledging midwives' professional scope and autonomy of practice in caring for healthy mothers and babies;
- b) A clear statement regarding midwives' obligation and capacity to provide personalised care;
- c) A support structure for midwives (and the interdisciplinary team) providing advice and care for women who request to give birth in a MU and have some element of complexity;
  - adequate time for midwives and senior midwives to be able to discuss care preferences and options with women;
  - a senior midwife or senior member of staff on call for clinical and professional advice;
  - a system for documentation of discussion with the woman, evidence-informed clinical advice given and her decision in her maternity notes.

### **STANDARD 21**

# The midwifery unit has a policy acknowledging women's autonomy

The MU policy:

- a) Avoids a rigid dichotomy of low-risk/high-risk women and promotes personalised assessment and holistic care;
- b) Provides for systems that ensure the support of women who have some element of complexity and still would like to opt for care in the MU;
- c) Includes a clear statement acknowledging and encouraging women's autonomy in decision-making;
- d) Includes arrangements to capture feedback from women and partners, including positive experiences, complaints, accounts of transfers, and personal impact statements and recommendations for when things go wrong.

# THEME 9 - Leadership

Strong evidence associates quality, safety and sustainability of maternity care with high-quality leadership (Alderwick et al., 2018). Findings from research on MUs emphasised how well-functioning midwifery units are often characterised by strong, transformational leadership (McCourt et al., 2011, 2014). In the UK, this kind of leadership is often provided by consultant midwives and a recent study of uptake of midwifery units found that services with a consultant midwife in a lead role were also more likely to have good uptake of the unit (Walsh et al., 2018).

Regardless of slight differences displayed by highperforming MUs, qualitative research case studies often describe the following key attributes:

- Leadership focused on setting the right culture and philosophy of care
- Ownership by staff
- Respect of women and midwives' autonomy
- Active promotion of inclusive and positive relationships within the maternity service

In England, the role of the Consultant Midwife aims to include the above attributes to ensure effective transformational leadership for maternity services and midwifery units.

# The role of the consultant midwife in the UK

The role of the consultant midwife was established within the UK National Health Service in 2000 following publication of a Health Service circular (1999). The purpose of the role was to help provide better outcomes for women and babies by improving services and quality, to strengthen leadership and to provide a new career opportunity with a view to retaining experienced and expert midwives in practice. The role was to contain four key elements:

- an expert practice function;
- a leadership function;
- an education and development function;
- a research and evaluation function.

They are experienced midwives with higher postgraduate qualifications, expert clinical skills and credibility who provide professional clinical leadership to midwives and other colleagues within the maternity team. A demanding feature of the role is to contribute to policy-making and strategic planning of services and many have set up new services such as birth centres, caseload practice for women with social complexities and personalised care plan appointment. Consultant midwives exercise a higher degree of personal, professional autonomy, making critical judgements and decisions where precedents do not exist. Many focus on strengthening and implementing clinically effective practice while supporting women's informed decisions. Consultant midwife posts require that at least 50% of the time available involves working directly with clients to maintain professional competence and sustain expertise.

**Pauline Cooke**, Consultant Midwife Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust

#### **STANDARD 22**

# There is a visible and consistent leadership within the midwifery unit

- a) There is a continuous presence of a clinical leader responsible for providing support to less experienced staff;
- b) There is a lead midwife at operational level for the midwifery unit. This person is responsible for the:
  - philosophy of the unit, staffing, quality and safety;
  - ensuring provision of equipment and materials;
  - safety, governance and infection control standards;
  - overall smooth running.

This person is visible on the MU, retains involvement in 'everyday' clinical practice, able to support staff through hands on clinic practice, able to share expertise (including plans for out-of-guidelines, on-calls etc).

c) There is a strategic role responsible for making decisions about resources and policies and acting as an advocate for the midwifery unit. This person can be the same as b) or a different person.

#### **STANDARD 23**

# The midwifery unit has high-quality transformational leadership

Leaders on all levels should have the following requisites:

- a) Relevant clinical experience of working in MUs;
- b) Ability to articulate a strong vision for the MU;
- c) Willing and demonstrable commitment to the role and sustainability of the MU;
- d) Knowledge aware of relevant evidence and competencies;
- e) Positive and inclusive leadership style and approachability;
- f) Ability to advocate for the unit and its staff team;
- g) Supportive of women's choice;
- h) Professional approach and an ability to provide role modelling for service staff;

- i) Ability to establish good working relationships between senior staff and between professional groups;
- j) Shared decision-making with the team;
- k) Ability to respond in a timely and clinically appropriate manner to critical incidents.

#### **STANDARD 24**

#### There is a multidisciplinary and service users advisory group, which sets out a vision for the midwifery unit

- a) The advisory group is composed of service users who are representative of the local population, MU staff, other clinicians, ambulance services and commissioners. The aim of this group is to enable community engagement and involvement, facilitate co-production with service providers, and support a culture of accountability to the public;
- b) The advisory group needs to be established while planning the opening of a new MU;
- c) The advisory group meets at least quarterly, to be reported to, and to advise on, place of birth bookings and transfer trends, information provided to expectant parents, marketing, relationships with related services and specialties, staff and unit development, service user feedback etc.

Other activities and outputs may include: an annual report, multidisciplinary clinical reviews to include best practice cases, audit of transfers, yearly showcase day to the local community.

# THEME 10 - Clinical Governance

It is important that a strong clinical governance structure supports the MU. There is a need to develop an organisational culture which instils a sense of ownership for staff and inclusion of service users in the continuous improvement of the MU (Ross and Naylor, 2017). A culture of openness at the MU and across the wider maternity services - in which cases are reviewed and causes of any adverse outcomes or poor experiences are identified and reflected on - will encourage learning and facilitate continuous service improvement (Jabbal, 2017).

### **STANDARD 25**

# The midwifery unit has evidence-based guidelines, policies and procedures subject to regular review

- a) Guidelines and procedures are co-produced and agreed by a multidisciplinary team, including the obstetric unit, neonatal unit and emergency services;
- b) Transfer guidelines promote the integration of services and pathways for women and their babies transferring between midwifery and obstetric units;
- c) There is an annual review of the operational policy and guidelines;
- d) A staffing escalation policy in the event of workforce shortage is in place, which acknowledges the distinct staffing of the MU. Labour ward has its own on-call system for staffing to avoid 'pulling' midwives from the MU;
- e) There is a written risk-management policy and a system for auditing compliance;
- f) Maternal and neonatal guidelines and MU documents are based on evidence-based guidelines (including using international guidelines where appropriate).

### **STANDARD 26**

# The midwifery unit has guidance on eligibility criteria and choice of place of birth

- a) Agreed threshold characteristics that would trigger discussion between the women, the MU staff, and linked obstetric staff to determine the optimal plan of care and the chosen place of birth;
- b) Where there is both a freestanding MU and an alongside MU, the written guidelines state whether there are differences in the threshold characteristics for care in the different units.

### **STANDARD 27**

#### The midwifery unit demonstrates commitment towards continuous improvement

The MU promotes continuous improvement of the service by:

- a) A monitored complaints procedure for both staff and service users;
- b) Routine collection and monitoring of staff and service user feedback;
- c) Continuous improvement processes drawing on clinical outcomes and the experiences of service users and staff;
- d) Rapid dissemination of learning from incident reviews;
- e) Dedicated professional time for audit;
- f) Continuous audit of number of women booking, births, outcomes and transfers;
- g) Six-monthly presentation of audit to the whole maternity unit.

The MU collects data in line with what is suggested by national programmes with particular regard to improving public health and reducing health inequalities around:

- h) Increasing physiological births;
- i) Reducing unnecessary interventions (e.g. caesarean sections);
- Reducing maternal and infant morbidity (including both physical and mental health outcomes);

- k) Improving early access to care;
- I) Increasing breastfeeding;
- m)Smoking cessation, maternal nutrition, substance misuse and alcohol abuse;
- n) Supporting women in vulnerable situations.

#### **STANDARD 28**

# The midwifery unit has a robust information system

The MU has an information system which is in line with the European regulations on data protection and storage that ensures:

- a) Record keeping and storage of data that is rigorous, contemporaneous and subject to regular audit;
- b) Robust information systems and data collection tools facilitating reporting and auditing of activities and outcomes;
- c) Primary and secondary care providers share the same information system;
- d) Electronic collection of information regarding activities and outcomes of care;
- e) A system to report incidents and demonstrate a transparent investigation and resolution of any incidents;
- f) Electronic records are accessible across geographical boundaries with regular statistics made available to the public.

#### **STANDARD 29**

# The midwifery unit includes plans for communication and marketing

- a) Promotion and links with the community through:
  - regular staff newsletters reporting on activities, outcomes, incidents, positive stories and celebrating successes;
  - regular public newsletters which include information about the services available on the MU, recent stories and experiences.
- b) Information and education for women through:
  - availability of regular tours;
  - use of social media to promote the MU;
  - antenatal/postnatal education and preparation for birth.
- c) Marketing of the MU through:
  - systems to facilitate word-of-mouth marketing within the community;
  - opportunities for families to learn about the midwifery unit during pregnancy (for example through using the MU as a venue for groups and classes and antenatal appointments).
- d) The MU should have a marketing strategy in place that considers the four stages of decision-making that considers theories of decision-making, such as the AIDA four-stages of decision-making model – Awareness, Interest, Desire and Action (Priyanka, 2013) - to ensure that local women's choices are supported.
- e) Fundraising activities provide opportunities for the MU to raise awareness in the community and involve them in the MU activities, increase ownership of the MU amongst service users and staff, generate income which could be used for different purposes such as events, training, conferences, equipment etc.

### **REFERENCES**

AABC American Association of Birth Centres (2017) *Birth Center Standards*. [online] Available at: https://www. birthcenters.org/page/Standards [Accessed 1 June 2018].

Ackerman, B., Cooke, P. and Hutcherson, A. (2009) Standards for birth centres in England: a Standards document. RCM, London.

Alderwick, H., Jones, B., Charles, A. and Warburton, W. (2018) *Making the case for quality improvement. The King's Fund.* Available at: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/ publications/making-case-quality-improvement (Accessed: 1 June 2018).

Baby Friendly Initiative (2017) *Guide to the Baby Friendly Initiative Standards – Baby Friendly Initiative*. Available at: https://www.unicef.org.uk/babyfriendly/baby-friendlyresources/guidance-for-health-professionals/implementingthe-baby-friendly-standards/guide-to-the-baby-friendlyinitiative-standards/ (Accessed: 9 June 2018).

Brocklehurst, P., Hardy, P., Hollowell, J., Linsell, L., Macfarlane, A., McCourt, C., Marlow, N., Miller, A., Newburn, M., Petrou, S., Puddicombe, D., Redshaw, M., Rowe, R., Sandall, J., Silverton, L. and Stewart, M. (2011) Perinatal and maternal outcomes by planned place of birth for healthy women with low risk pregnancies: the Birthplace in England national prospective cohort study. *BMJ*, 343(nov23 4), pp.d7400-d7400.

Bryers, H. M. and Van Teijlingen, E. (2010) Risk, theory, social and medical models: a critical analysis of the concept of risk in maternity care. *Midwifery*, 26(5), pp.488-496.

Coxon, K., Sandall, J. and Fulop, N. (2013) To what extent are women free to choose where to give birth? How discourses of risk, blame and responsibility influence birth place decisions. *Health, Risk & Society*, 16(1), pp.51-67.

Davis Harte, J., Leap, N., Fenwick, J., Homer, C. and Foureur, M. (2014) Methodological insights from a study using video-ethnography to conduct interdisciplinary research in the study of birth unit design. *International Journal of Multiple Research Approaches*, 8(1), pp.36-48.

Davis-Floyd, R. (2001) The technocratic, humanistic, and holistic paradigms of childbirth. *International Journal of Gynecology & Obstetrics*, 75, pp.S5-S23.

Downe, S. (2010) *Towards salutogenic birth in the 21st century*. Essential midwifery practice: intrapartum care. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd., pp.pp.289-95.

European Board and College of Obstetrics and Gynaecology (2014) *Standards of Care for Women's Health in Europe*. EBCOG. Available at: https://www.ebcog.org/ single-post/2017/08/21/Standard-of-care-published (Accessed: 1 June 2018). Hammond, A., Homer, C. and Foureur, M. (2017) Friendliness, functionality and freedom: design characteristics that support midwifery practice in the hospital setting. *Midwifery*, 50, pp.133-138.

Healy M, Gillen P. (2016) *Planning birth in and admission to a midwife-led unit: development of a GAIN evidence-based guideline*. Evidence Based Midwifery 14(3): 82-86

GAIN (RQIA, 2016) Guideline for Admission to Midwife-Led Units in Northern Ireland & Northern Ireland Normal Labour & Birth Care Pathway. RQIA: Belfast

International Confederation of Midwives (2011) *ICM Position Statement. Midwifery: an autonomous profession.* Internationalmidwives.org. Available at: https:// internationalmidwives.org/who-we-are/policy-andpractice/icm-position-statements-general/ (Accessed: 1 June 2018).

International Confederation of Midwives (2013) *ICM Essential Competencies for Basic Midwifery Practice*. Internationalmidwives.org. Available at: https:// internationalmidwives.org/who-we-are/policy-andpractice/icm-position-statements-general/ (Accessed: 1 June 2018).

Jabbal, J. (2017) *Embedding a culture of quality improvement*. The King's Fund. Available at: https://www.kingsfund.org. uk/publications/embedding-culture-quality-improvement (Accessed: 4 June 2018).

Jenkinson, B., Josey, N. and Kruske, S. (2013) *BirthSpace: An evidence-based guide to birth environment design.* Queensland: Centre for Mothers & Babies, The University of Queensland.

Jordan, B. and Davis-Floyd, R. (1993) *Birth in four cultures*. Prospect Heights, III.: Waveland Press.

Kennedy, H. P., Cheyney, M., Dahlen, H. G., Downe, S., Foureur, M. J., Homer, C. S. E., Jefford, E. McFadden, A. Michel-Schuldt, M., Sandall, J., Soltani, H., Vedam, S. and Renfrew, M.J. (2018) Asking different questions: a call to action for research to improve the quality of care for every woman, every child. *Birth*. 2018;1–10.

Kirkham, M. (2010) *Sustained by joy: the potential of flow experience for midwives and mothers*. In Sustainability, Midwifery and Birth, pp. 105-118. Routledge.

Kuruvilla, S., Bustreo, F., Kuo, T., Mishra, C.K., Taylor, K., Fogstad, H., Gupta, G.R., Gilmore, K., Temmerman, M., Thomas, J. and Rasanathan, K. (2016) *The Global strategy for women's, children's and adolescents' health (2016–2030): a roadmap based on evidence and country experience.* Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 94(5), p.398.

Midwifery Unit Standards. 2018

Macfarlane, A.J., Rocca-Ihenacho, L., Turner, L. and Roth, C. (2014a) Survey of women's experiences of care in a new freestanding midwifery unit in an inner city area of London, England – 1: Methods and women's overall ratings of care. *Midwifery*, 30(9), pp.998-1008.

Macfarlane, A. J., Rocca-Ihenacho, L. and Turner, L. R. (2014b) Survey of women's experiences of care in a new freestanding midwifery unit in an inner city area of London, England: – 2: Specific aspects of care. *Midwifery*, 30(9), pp.1009-1020.

MacFarlane, A. J., Blondel, B., Mohangoo, A. D., Cuttini, M., Nijhuis, J., Novak, Z., Ólafsdóttir, H. S. and Zeitlin, J. (2016) Wide differences in mode of delivery within Europe: risk-stratified analyses of aggregated routine data from the Euro-Peristat study. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, 123(4), pp.559-568.

McCourt, C., Rance, S., Rayment, J. and Sandall, J. (2011) Birthplace qualitative organisational case studies: how maternity care systems affect the provision of care in different settings. Birthplace in England research programme. Final report part 6. London: NIHR Service Delivery and Organisation programme.

McCourt, C., Rayment, J., Rance, S. and Sandall, J. (2012) Organisational strategies and midwives' readiness to provide care for out of hospital births: An analysis from the Birthplace organisational case studies. *Midwifery* 28(5), pp.636-645.

McCourt, C., Rayment, J., Rance, S. and Sandall, J. (2014) An ethnographic organisational study of alongside midwifery units: a follow-on study from the Birthplace in England programme. Health Services and Delivery Research, 2(7).

McCourt, C., Rayment, J., Rance, S. and Sandall, J. (2016) Place of birth and concepts of wellbeing: an analysis from two ethnographic studies of midwifery units in England. *Anthropology in Action*, 23(3), pp.17-29.

Miller, S., Abalos, E., Chamillard, M., Ciapponi, A., Colaci, D., Comandé, D., Diaz, V., Geller, S., Hanson, C., Langer, A., Manuelli, V., Millar, K., Morhason-Bello, I., Castro, C., Pileggi, V., Robinson, N., Skaer, M., Souza, J., Vogel, J. and Althabe, F. (2016) Beyond too little, too late and too much, too soon: a pathway towards evidence-based, respectful maternity care worldwide. *The Lancet*, 388(10056), pp.2176-2192.

NICE, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, (2007) Intrapartum care: care of healthy women and their babies during labour. NICE Clinical Guideline No. 55. London: NICE; September 2007. NICE, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence, (2014) Intrapartum care for healthy women and babies, Clinical guideline [CG190] Published date: December 2014 Last updated: February 2017. Available at: https://www. nice.org.uk/guidance/cg190 (Accessed: 9 June 2018).

Overgaard, C., Fenger-Grøn, M. and Sandall, J. (2012a) Freestanding midwifery units versus obstetric units: does the effect of place of birth differ with level of social disadvantage? *BMC Public Health*, 12(1), p.478.

Overgaard, C., Fenger-Grøn, M. and Sandall, J. (2012b) The impact of birthplace on women's birth experiences and perceptions of care. *Social Science & Medicine*, 74(7), pp.973-981.

Rawal, P. (2013) AIDA Marketing communication model: stimulating a purchase decision in the minds of the consumers through a linear progression of steps. *International journal of multidisciplinary research in social* & *management sciences*, 1(1), pp.37-44.

Rayment, J., McCourt, C., Rance, S. and Sandall, J. (2015) What makes alongside midwifery-led units work? Lessons from a national research project. *The Practising Midwife*, 18(6).

Renfrew, M., McFadden, A., Bastos, M., Campbell, J., Channon, A., Cheung, N., Silva, D., Downe, S., Kennedy, H., Malata, A., McCormick, F., Wick, L. and Declercq, E. (2014) Midwifery and quality care: findings from a new evidenceinformed framework for maternal and newborn care. *The Lancet*, 384(9948), pp.1129-1145.

Rocca-Ihenacho, L. (2017) An ethnographic study of the philosophy, culture and practice in an urban freestanding midwifery unit. PhD Thesis. City, University of London.

Rocca-Ihenacho, L., Newburn, M. and Byrom, S. (2017) *The* Midwifery Unit Network: creating a community of practice to enhance maternity services. *The Practicing Midwife* 20(6):24-27.

Ross S. and Naylor C. (2017) *Quality improvement in mental health*. London: The King's Fund. Available at: www. kingsfund.org.uk/publica ons/quality-improvement-mental-health (accessed: 1 June 2018).

Rowe, R. and Birthplace in England Collaborative Group (2011) *Birthplace terms and definitions: consensus process*. Birthplace in England research programme. Final report part 2: NIHR Service Delivery and Organisation programme. Available at: https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/ birthplace (Accessed: 6 June 2018).

### REFERENCES

Sandall, J., Soltani, H., Gates, S., Shennan, A. and Devane, D. (2016) *Midwife-led continuity models versus other models of care for childbearing women*. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews.

Scarf, V., Rossiter, C., Vedam, S., Dahlen, H., Ellwood, D., Forster, D., Foureur, M., McLachlan, H., Oats, J., Sibbritt, D., Thornton, C. and Homer, C. (2018) Maternal and perinatal outcomes by planned place of birth among women with low-risk pregnancies in high-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Midwifery*, 62, pp.240-255.

Schroeder L., Petrou S., Patel N., Hollowell J., Puddicombe D., Redshaw M., et al. (2011) *Birthplace cost-effectiveness analysis of planned place of birth: individual level analysis. Birthplace in England research programme.* Final report part 5. NIHR Service Delivery and Organisation programme.

UNFPA, ICM and WHO (2018) *State of the World's Midwifery 2014*. Available at: https://www.unfpa.org/ sowmy (Accessed: 21 June 2018).

Walsh, D. and Newburn, M. (2002) Towards a social model of childbirth. *British Journal of Midwifery*, 10, 9, pp. 540–544.

Walsh, D. (2006a) Birth centres, community and social capital. *MIDIRS Midwifery Digest*, 16(1), pp.7-15.

Walsh, D. (2006b) 'Nesting' and 'Matrescence' as distinctive features of a free-standing birth centre in the UK. *Midwifery*, 22(3), pp.228-239.

Walsh, D. (2006c) Subverting the assembly-line: childbirth in a free-standing birth centre. *Social Science & Medicine*, 62(6), pp.1330-1340.

Walsh, D., Spiby, H., Grigg, C. P., Dodwell, M., McCourt, C., Culley, L., Bishop, S., Wilkinson, J., Coleby, D., Pacanowski, L. and Thornton, J. (2018) Mapping midwifery and obstetric units in England. *Midwifery*, 56, pp.9-16

White Ribbon Alliance (2012) *Respectful maternity care: the universal rights of childbearing women*. Washington DC: White Ribbon Alliance; October 2011. Available from: http://whiteribbonalliance.org/wpcontent/ uploads/2013/10/Final\_RMC\_Charter.pd (accessed: 1st June 2018).

World Health Organization (2016a) *The global strategic directions for strengthening nursing and midwifery.* Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization (2016b) WHO recommendations on antenatal care for a positive pregnancy experience. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.

World Health Organization (2018) WHO recommendations: intrapartum care for a positive childbirth experience. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. The development of these Standards has brought together knowledge from two key sources:

### A. Published research literature

We carried out a **systematic review** of qualitative literature relating to midwifery units (freestanding and alongside). Publications were included if they were peer-reviewed research or unpublished doctoral theses and included qualitative literature on the organisation, management and experience of midwifery units in high-income countries. This review identified 24 relevant articles, one report and 3 PhD theses.

A **metasynthesis** of the literature was conducted, identifying and coding themes arising in the findings sections of all studies, using NVivo software. This generated a list of 43 themes that each appeared at least once in the dataset (a full account of the review methods and findings will be presented separately).

### **B. Expert knowledge**

#### 1. Delphi surveys

A range of midwifery unit experts were invited to participate in two surveys. A call for expressions of interest was placed on a range of relevant forums and targeted invitations sent to well-known experts and those recommended by relevant professional organisations. Expert status was defined as having experience in developing (consultant midwives, managers etc.), managing (heads of midwifery, team leaders etc.), evaluating (researchers, lecturers etc.) or working clinically (minimum 2 years' experience) in midwifery units. They also included midwives, obstetricians and neonatologists linked to a midwifery unit, and support staff. Some international experts were included to attain their view on the wider international issues. A total of 120 experts were invited to participate in the first survey and 122 in the second survey.

The Delphi survey involved two rounds, conducted online using Qualtrics software.

The initial survey form was based on the RCM Standards (2009), thus utilising the original expert knowledge that underpinned the production of that Standards document. Ninety-eight experts started to complete the first Delphi survey and 64 respondents completed it.

For the second Delphi survey, 64 started the survey and 52 completed it. The overall response rate was 48%.

In each case, participants were asked to score each of the Standards on a Likert-type scale from 1 to 5 (from 'extremely important' to 'not important at all') and to add open text responses or suggested new Standards on any aspects of the document. Standards were then eliminated if 75% or more of participants scored them between 3 and 5 (less important).

Following analysis and synthesis with other data sources (see below), a revised Draft Standards Document provided the format for the second survey round. Sixty-four experts participated in the second Delphi panel questionnaire using the same scale as the first Delphi questionnaire. Again, low-scoring Standards were removed using the same threshold.

#### 2. Stakeholder meetings and focus groups

The Delphi survey was supplemented by three stakeholder group meetings. The first one had 28 attendees and was held in London on the 8th of June 2017. The second was held on the 21st of June 2017 in Toronto, during the ICM Triennial Conference. The stakeholders who attended (around 50 conference delegates) formed working groups to discuss the existing RCM Standards. In December 2017, the Standards were presented and discussed during the third stakeholder meeting in London. This group of experts (18 participants) focused on key issues arising from the revised Standards that had been newly generated by the Delphi survey Round 1 (but had been found to be underrepresented in the original RCM Standards). The notes from these discussions were fed into the analysis process and the revised draft.

#### 3. Case study interviews with Birth Centre Beacon Site midwifery leaders

Following the literature review, the first stakeholder engagement event and Delphi survey, three themes remained under-populated: forming links with the community, working across boundaries, and women's autonomy. Three case study interviews were carried out with staff in the Midwifery Unit Network Birth Centre Beacon Sites: high-performing sites with particular expertise in these three areas, in order to obtain more content. This new content was checked and scored for consensus during the second Delphi survey (see analysis section overleaf).

#### Analysis

The project team brought together:

- The remaining Standards from the RCM 2009 document (following the Delphi survey, round 1 rankings)
- Additional Standards and themes suggested by the Delphi survey in open text comments
- Key themes from the first stakeholder focus group discussions
- The 43 themes generated by the metasynthesis
- Additional content generated by the case study interviews

These data sources were then synthesised using a systematic approach:

Each item (i.e Standard or theme) was written on a separate piece of paper, duplications were eliminated and codes were then grouped under emerging, overarching categories. The aim was to generate the smallest number of categories that could accommodate all of the codes.

The categories were refined in a subsequent meeting and the final 10 then formed the revised themes for the new Standards. These were then tested in the Delphi survey Round 2, using the ranking process described above.

#### **Peer Review**

The final draft of the Standards was peer reviewed by 12 interdisciplinary European expert reviewers (see appendix).

### Figure 1- The process of creation of the Midwifery Unit Standards



# APPENDIX 2 – Acknowledgements

### **Research team**

Lucia Rocca-Ihenacho	Mary Newburn
Juliet Rayment	Nathalie Leister
Laura Batinelli	Claire Biros
Ellen Thaels	Deirdre Munro
Shujana Keraudren	Christine McCourt

#### **Peer Reviewers**

- 1) **Birte Harlev-Lam**, Clinical Director Maternity and Children, NHS Improvement, England
- 2) **Catherine Williams**, Maternity Service User Representative, Reading Maternity Voices (MVP) and National Maternity Voices, England
- Claire de Labrusse, Associate professor, Midwifery School, School of Health Sciences (HESAV), University of Applied Sciences and Arts Western Switzerland (HES-SO), Switzerland
- 4) Jessica Read, Regional Maternity Lead for London, NHS England, England
- 5) **Johanne Dagustun**, Service User Representative, Greater Manchester and Eastern Cheshire, England
- 6) Laura lannuzzi, Lead Midwife-Physiological Pregnancy Pathway and Margherita Birth Centre, Careggi University Hospital, Florence, Italy

- 7) Maria Booker, Programmes Director, Birthrights, England
- 8) **Mervi Jokinen**, President, European Midwives Association
- 9) **Pauline Cooke**, Consultant Midwife, Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust, England
- 10) **Ramon Escuriet**, Divisió d'Innovació i Cartera de Serveis Sanitaris, Àrea d'Atenció Sanitària, Servei Català de la Salut, Spain
- 11) **Sandra Morano**, Professor of Obstetrics, Università degli Studi di Genova Facoltà di Medicina e Chirurgia, Italy
- 12) **Susan Bewley**, Professor of Women's Health, King's College London (academic obstetrician)

### Contributors

Abigail Holmes Alison Searle Allison Mascagni Amanda Mansfield Carmel Bradshaw Caroline Homer Cate Langley Caterina Raniolo Cath Reeves-Jones **Catherine Williams** Cecilia Grigg Chantelle Winstanley Christine McCourt **Christine Saunders** Claire Biros Claire de Labrusse **Cristina Alonso** Dawn Lewis **Deb Jackson Debbie Edwards** Deirdre Munro Denis Walsh Eilish Crowson **Elaine Frail** Elizabeth Duff **Elizabeth Margaret Ellen Thaels** Emma Spillane **Fiona Cullinane** Francesca Sulli Francisca Postigo Mota Gill Walton Graciela Etcheverry

Helen ED Shallow Irene Gonzalez Perez Ivana Arena Jackie Moulla Jaki Lambert Jacky Nizard Jane Parker-Wisdom Jane Sandall Jennifer Stevens Jessica Read Jo Goss Jo Ryalls Juan Soria Juliet Rayment Kate Brintworth Kav Cassidv **Keith Brainin Kerstin Lelubre Kirstie Coxon** Laura Batinelli Laura lannuzzi Louise Silverton Louise Taylor Lucia Rocca-Ihenacho Lucrezia D'Antuono Lynn Bayes **Maggie Davies** Maria Healy Marie Lewis Marieke Hermus Martin Nemrava Mary Newburn Mary Turay-Olusile

Mechthild M. Gross Michele Warnimont Miranda Scanlon Natalie Sedlicka Nicoletta Setola Pauline Cooke Pearl Kowlessar-Manoo Petra Ann Kovařčíková **Phyllis Winters Rachel Rowe Rachel Scanlan** Ramón Escuriet Rémi Béranger **Richard Hallett Rineke Schram Rosalie Wright** Rosie Goode Sandra Morano Seána Talbot Sharon Dickinson Sheena Byrom Shona Solly Soo Downe Stan Shaffer Susan Bewley Susan Crowther Susan Davies Susan Stapleton **Tracey Cooper** Vicki Grayson Wendy Cutchie

#### **Birth Centre Beacon Sites**

Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust: Lynn Bayes and Kerstin Lelubre

Sandwell and West Birmingham Hospitals NHS Trust: Kathryn Gutteridge

Lancashire Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust: Joanne Goss and Emma Ashton

### Stakeholder organisations

RCM Royal College of Midwives (UK)

ICM International Confederation of Midwives

FNOPO Federazione Nazionale degli Ordini della Professione Ostetrica (Italy)

FAME Federacion de Asociaciones de Matronas de Espana (Spain)

APODAC Asociace pro Porodní Domy a Centra, (Czech Republic)

#### Contributors during ICM event

We would like to acknowledge all the participants who attended the Midwifery Unit Standards stakeholder meeting on the 21st of June 2017 at the 31st ICM congress in Toronto.

### **Expert contribution**

Nicoletta Setola is co-author of the section 'Environment and Facilities'. Nicoletta is an architect, PhD and assistant professor in the Department of Architecture - TESIS Centre at the University of Florence, Italy.

This document presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR).

The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health.

© City, University of London, July 2018, All rights reserved.



www.midwiferyunitnetwork.org

🥑 @midwiferyunits

**f** Midwifery Unit Network online community